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OPINION AND ORDER
BY THE COMMISSION:


Before us for consideration and disposition is a request for approval of a Settlement Agreement (Settlement) entered into between the Commission’s Law Bureau Prosecutory Staff (Prosecutory Staff), representing the Gas Safety Division of the Bureau of Transportation and Safety (BTS), and The Peoples Natural Gas Company, d/b/a Dominion Peoples (Peoples or Respondent).  The Settlement, which was filed on  January 8, 2007, is conditioned upon the Commission’s approval without modification and provides for the payment by the Respondent of a civil penalty of $50,000.  For the reasons stated below, we approve the Settlement.
History of the Proceeding


On December 30, 2005, the Prosecutory Staff initiated this Complaint proceeding against the Respondent, alleging that the Respondent violated 49 C.F.R. 
§§ 192.459 (“External corrosion control: Examination of buried pipeline when exposed”) and 192.473 (“External corrosion control: Interference currents”) by failing to examine an exposed section of a buried pipeline for evidence of external corrosion or deterioration of the coating; by failing to continue examining the pipe; and by failing to minimize the detrimental effects of stray currents.  The Complaint requested, inter alia, that the Commission order Peoples to pay a civil penalty of $200 per day starting on January 30, 2003, for the violations of Section 192.459; and to pay a civil penalty of $5,000 for the violation of Section 192.473.  



Specifically, the Complaint alleged, inter alia, that: on January 23, 2003, Peoples discovered an external corrosion leak on a pipeline (TP-301) located in Armstrong County; shortly thereafter, Peoples installed a band clamp over the leak and replaced a 33-foot section of the pipeline; Peoples determined that the cause of the corrosion leak was a stray current from another Peoples pipeline; Peoples completed a review of the pipeline and found additional corrosion concerns; and by October 10, 2005, Peoples replaced a 733-foot section of the pipe.
On February 8, 2006, the Respondent filed an Answer to the Complaint in which it denied the allegation that it had determined that the cause of the leak was stray current originating from another Peoples’ pipeline.  The Respondent claims that it has, in fact, ruled out stray current as the cause, and its post-construction testing revealed minimum stray current in the vicinity.  The Respondent stated that, in response to a letter from the Gas Safety Division, it developed a plan to examine the pipeline in the vicinity of the leak by digging test holes identified in consultation with the Commission’s inspector in July 2005.  Evidence of pitting was found within 100 feet of the leak reported in January 2003.  When the Respondent replaced the 733-foot section of pipe in October 2005, the Commission’s inspector stated that he would close the two safety-related condition matters that are the subject of this Complaint.  Because Peoples denied that there was any detrimental stray current, it denied that it violated 49 C.F.R. § 192.473.  Peoples also denied that it violated Section 192.459 because it sufficiently examined the pipeline for further corrosion when it exposed approximately forty feet of pipe and saw no further evidence of corrosion.


More than seven months after the Respondent filed its Answer to the Complaint, the Prosecutory Staff issued an Amended Complaint on September 26, 2006. The Amended Complaint incorporated the allegations of the original Complaint and added several additional allegations.  


The Amended Complaint alleged that the Respondent violated 49 C.F.R.  §§ 192.13(c) (“What general requirements apply to pipelines regulated under this part?”) and 192.703(c) (“Maintenance – General”) and 52 Pa. Code § 59.33(a) (“Safety”) by failing to follow its procedures, failing to promptly repair a hazardous leak, and failing to exercise reasonable care to reduce hazards occasioned by its equipment or facilities.  Specifically, the Amended Complaint alleged that, on October 5, 2005, Peoples recorded a leak that occurred in Altoona in its system records and set a vent on the manhole where a reading of ten percent gas had been recorded.  On November 16, 2005, the Commission’s inspector did not find the leak reported in the Respondent’s appropriate tracking system.  He also found one percent gas in the manhole and observed that the manhole lid was asphalted in place.


The Amended Complaint also alleged that the Respondent violated 49 C.F.R. §§ 192.13(c), 192.603(b) (“Operations – General provisions”), 192.605(b) (“Procedural manual for operations, maintenance and emergencies”), and 192.727(d)(3) (“Abandonment or deactivation of facilities”) by failing to supply field operating personnel with its standard operating procedures, failing to indicate on service orders for the termination of services if the crew discontinued the service properly, and failing to physically disconnect the customers’ piping from the gas supply and seal the pipe.  Specifically, the Amended Complaint alleged that, when the Division of Gas Safety required Peoples to excavate 111 service line connections, it found thirty-three sites with various unsafe conditions, including five sites with rags and/or tape inside the pipe, six sites with duct seal and/or tape over the end of the pipe, and twenty-two sites with pipes that were left open.  


The Amended Complaint requested that the Commission impose additional civil penalties on the Respondent of $5,000 for the leak in Altoona, and $33,000 for the violations related to the improperly capped lines.


The instant Settlement filed with the Commission on January 8, 2007, includes an agreement by the Respondent to pay a penalty of $50,000 and to cease and desist from committing any further violations of gas safety regulations.  The Parties state that the purpose of the Settlement is to terminate the Prosecutory Staff’s informal investigation and to terminate this matter without litigation.
Discussion


In Joseph A. Rosi v. Bell-Atlantic-Pennsylvania, Inc., Docket No. C‑00992409 (March 16, 2000), the Commission adopted standards for determining the amount of a civil penalty in slamming cases.  We subsequently determined that all violations of the Public Utility Code and Commission Regulations would be subject to review under the standards enunciated in Rosi.  Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission v. NCIC Operator Services, Docket No. M-00001440 (December 21, 2000).  The standards for determining a civil penalty that are set forth in Rosi are as follows:  
1.
Whether the violation was intentional or negligent.  If the violation is intentional, the Commission should start with the presumption that the penalty will be in the range of $500.00 to $1,000.00 per day.  If the violation is negligent, the Commission should start with the presumption that the penalty will be in the range of zero dollars to $500.00 per day.  The precise penalty amount per day will be arrived at by applying the following additional standards, while recognizing that the Commission retains broad discretion in determining a total civil penalty amount that is reasonable on an individual case basis.
2.
Whether the regulated entity promptly and voluntarily took steps to return the customer to the appropriate carrier and credited the customer's account.
3.
Whether the regulated entity initiated procedures to prevent future slamming.
4.
The number of customers affected and the duration of the violation.
5.
Whether the penalty arises from a settlement or a litigated proceeding.
6.
The compliance history of the regulated entity which committed the violation.
7.
Whether the regulated entity cooperated with the Commission.
8.
The amount necessary to deter future violations.
9.
Past Commission decisions in similar situations.
10.
Other relevant factors.

The parties submit that the Settlement does not violate the standards set forth in Rosi, and is consistent with the Commission’s proposed Policy Statement for Litigated and Settled Proceedings Involving Violations of the Public Utility Code and Commission Regulations, Docket No. M-00051875 (August 12, 2005).  On review, we conclude that we will approve the Settlement as meeting the Rosi requirements, which are discussed seriatim below.

The first standard raises the question as to whether the Respondent’s alleged violations were intentional or negligent. The Settlement states that this standard cannot be applied clearly in this case, since no witnesses were called and no findings of fact were adopted.  The Parties state, however, that there is “no indication, whatsoever, that the Company committed intentional violations.”  (Settlement at 10).  We conclude that the violations should be deemed to have been unintentional.  Under Rosi, the presumption is that the appropriate penalty for unintentional violations should be in the range of zero dollars to $500 per day.  The proposed penalty of $50,000 falls within this range.


The second and third Rosi standards do not apply to the present case because they are applicable only to slamming cases.

The fourth standard concerns the number of customers affected and the duration of the violations.  The Parties state that this was the first time that these alleged violations have been addressed, and it appears that the Respondent is taking appropriate action to prevent future occurrences. 

The fifth Rosi standard concerns whether the penalty arises from a settlement or a litigated proceeding.  The Parties state that this standard is of pivotal importance to this Settlement, since a settlement avoids the necessity for the prosecuting agency to prove elements of each violation and, in return, the opposing party agrees to a lesser penalty.  The Parties submit that penalties in a litigated proceeding, such as Rosi, always have been higher than those that result from a settlement, and that this is the reason that the Commission considers whether penalties arise from a settlement or a litigated proceeding.  (Settlement at 11).  

The sixth Rosi standard is the compliance history of a respondent.  Although the Respondent’s compliance history was not addressed directly by the Settlement, the Parties stated that they considered the Respondent’s compliance history when negotiating the Settlement.  Because the Respondent’s compliance history is satisfactory, we conclude that this standard has been met.



The seventh Rosi standard is whether the regulated entity has cooperated with the Commission.  The Settlement states that the Respondent has been cooperative.  (Settlement at 8, 11).  We conclude that this standard has been met.



The eighth Rosi standard is whether the amount of the penalty is sufficient to deter future violations.  The Parties state that this factor was considered in the negotiations, and that the Respondent has made good-faith efforts to comply with the regulations.  We conclude that the substantial penalty of $50,000 is sufficient to deter future violations.


The ninth Rosi standard is consideration of past Commission decisions in similar situations.  The Settlement did not address this standard.  Because this case did not proceed to hearing and there is no evidentiary record, it is difficult to assess whether the Amended Complaint would have been sustained or dismissed and, hence, to identify similar situations where a penalty has been assessed.  Based solely on the pleadings, it appears that the Prosecutory Staff may or may not have been able to prove all of the allegations in the Amended Complaint.  The Respondent responded to the leaks in Armstrong County and in Altoona and took corrective action, but the adequacy of that corrective action seems to have been the area of disagreement between the Respondent and the Gas Safety Division.  Given that the Amended Complaint may or may not have been sustained after the development of an evidentiary record, we conclude that the proposed penalty of $50,000 is consistent with, and perhaps higher than, penalties in prior cases.  


The Parties submit that the Settlement is in the public interest because it addresses the issues set forth in the Complaint, avoids the time and expense of litigation, and provides for a fair and equitable penalty.  We concur, and find that the Settlement meets the standards under Rosi.
Conclusion
For the reasons stated above, we approve the proposed Settlement Agreement; THEREFORE,        

IT IS ORDERED:

1.
That the request for approval of the Settlement Agreement between the Commission’s Law Bureau Prosecutory Staff and The Peoples Natural Gas Company, 
d/b/a Dominion Peoples (Respondent), filed on January 8, 2007, at Docket No. 
C-20055710, is granted and the Settlement Agreement is approved. 

2.  
That The Peoples Natural Gas Company, d/b/a Dominion Peoples, shall pay a penalty of $50,000 within twenty (20) days of the date that this Opinion and Order is entered by mailing a certified check or money order to: 


Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission



P.O. Box 3265



Harrisburg, PA  17105-3265.

5.  
That a copy of this Opinion and Order be served on the Financial and Assessment Chief, Office of Administrative Services.

6.
That upon payment by the Respondent of the penalty of $50,000, this proceeding shall be terminated and the record marked closed.






BY THE COMMISSION,







James J. McNulty








Secretary

(SEAL)

ORDER ADOPTED:  June 21, 2007
ORDER ENTERED:  June 26, 2007
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